### ALCOHOL-INDUCED ALTERATIONS IN SERUM IMMUNOGLOBULIN E (IGE) LEVELS IN HUMAN SUBJECTS

### Arturo González-Quintela<sup>1</sup>, Carmen Vidal<sup>2</sup>, and Francisco Gude<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, <sup>2</sup> Allergy Unit, and <sup>3</sup> Clinical Epidemiology Unit, Complejo Hospitalario Universitario, Santiago de Compostela, Spain

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Alcohol consumption and total serum IgE
  - 3.1. IgE studies in alcoholics
    - 3.1.1. Total serum IgE concentrations in alcoholic patients
    - 3.1.2. Assessment of potential confounding factors
      - 3.1.2.1. Liver disease
      - 3.1.2.2. Smoking
      - 3.1.2.3. Parasite infestation
      - 3.1.2.4. Malnutrition
      - 3.1.2.5. Atopy
      - 3.1.2.6. Age and gender
    - 3.1.3. Time-course changes of serum IgE levels after alcohol abstinence
  - 3.2. IgE studies in moderate alcohol consumers
  - 3.3. Indirect evidences of the influence of alcohol consumption on total serum IgE
    - 3.3.1. Mother's alcohol consumption and cord blood IgE concentrations
    - 3.3.2. Experimental studies
  - 3.4. Possible mechanisms of alcohol-induced changes in total serum IgE concentrations
    - 3.4.1. Alterations in Th1/Th2 cytokine balance
    - 3.4.2. T-cell independent mechanisms
    - 3.4.3. Antigen shedding/exposure
- 4. Alcohol consumption and specific allergies
  - 4.1. Alcohol consumption and serum specific IgE levels in atopic patients
  - 4.2. Alcohol consumption and risk of allergic sensitization
  - 4.3. Alcohol consumption and development of allergic and pseudoallergic symptoms
- 5. Perspective
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. References

### 1. ABSTRACT

The association of alcohol intake with total serum IgE concentrations in humans is discussed in the present review. The possible relationship of regular alcohol intake with both the risk of allergic sensitization and serum allergen-specific IgE values is also reviewed. Several studies consistently show that total serum IgE concentrations are increased in alcoholics when compared with healthy controls. Total serum IgE levels decrease after ethanol abstinence in alcoholics. Total serum IgE is increased in moderate alcohol consumers with respect to abstainers. Alcohol consumption in mothers may be

associated with increased cord blood IgE levels in their offspring. IgE elevation in alcohol consumers is independent of potential confounders such as age, sex, liver disease, cigarette smoking or atopic status. Experimental studies in animals further support that ethanol administration is followed by an increase in serum IgE concentrations. In atopic patients, regular alcohol consumption is associated with increased serum specific IgE levels against some aeroallergens. Preliminary reports suggest that alcohol intake is associated to variable risk of sensitization to some aeroallergens. The possible

mechanisms of alcohol-induced alterations in IgE levels and IgE-mediated diseases are discussed.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Immunoglobulin E (IgE), discovered in the mid 1960s by Ishizaka, Ishizaka and Johansson (1-3), is the main specific molecule responsible for allergic diseases. The term "allergy", meaning a "changed reactivity" after contact with some external "agents", was coined by Clemens von Pirquet in 1906 (4), and has become synonymous with immediate, type-I, or IgEmediated hypersensitivity (5). The term "atopy" was introduced by Coca and Cooke in the early 1920s to designate a qualitatively abnormal response occurring in particular individuals (atopics), clinically characterized by hay fever and bronchial asthma, and associated with immediate-type skin reactions (6). Nowadays, atopy is defined as a personal or familial tendency to produce IgE antibodies in response to low dose of aeroallergens, usually proteins, and to develop typical symptoms such as asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis, or eczema/dermatitis (7). In absence of a genetic marker, the atopic individual cannot be identified before developing IgE-mediated sensitization. Atopy is therefore clinically recognized by the presence of positive skin prick tests against aeroallergens common in the environment (8).

Serum concentrations of IgE are very much lower than those of the remaining isotypes of antibodies, but IgE plays a major role in mucosal immunity in both health and disease. Once produced after contact with an allergen in a mucosal surface, specific IgE binds to mast cells and basophils and sensitizes them for months. Subsequent contacts with the allergen drives mediator release and local inflammation, a mechanism that may be important in host defence against parasitic worms (5). In atopic subjects, a similar mechanism is developed against innocuous environmental allergens (5,9). Serum IgE concentrations are highly variable, following a nonnormal distribution skewed toward low values (9). Total serum IgE levels are determined by genetic background (5,10), but can be influenced by a number of factors (9). Atopic subjects show increased levels of total serum IgE (5,9). Total serum IgE is therefore routinely requested in Allergy clinics as a diagnostic tool, although the overlap between IgE concentrations between atopic and nonatopic individuals reduces the diagnostic value of total serum IgE as a screening test for atopy (9). With these limitations, total serum IgE values below 100 IU/mL are considered "normal" in most studies (9,11).

Atopy affects as much as a quarter of some populations and is ever increasing in frequency (12,13). The atopic immune system is characterized by a Th2 deviation, determined by genetic and a number of environmental factors (14). Many of genetic alterations associated to atopy include genes responsible for synthesis of Th2 cytokines and other molecules related to IgE production (15). Environmental factors associated with atopy include allergen exposure, air pollution and lack of exposure to some infections in childhood

(14,16,17). The latter can be involved in the rising incidence of atopic disorders in socioeconomically developed countries (16,17). Tobacco smoking (18-23) and alcohol drinking are probably associated to increased total serum IgE levels and variable risks of allergen sensitization. This article reviews available data on the association of alcohol consumption on both total serum IgE concentrations and specific allergies in human subjects.

# 3. ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AND TOTAL SERUM IGE

#### 3.1. IgE studies in alcoholics

## 3.1.1. Total serum IgE concentrations in alcoholic patients

Several cross-sectional observational studies (summarized in table 1) consistently show an increase in serum IgE levels in alcoholics (24-38). These studies were performed in very different countries, in a variety of settings, and in substantial number of cases (table 1). Some studies were specifically focused on alcoholics, while the remainder usually studied alcoholic patients amongst a miscellaneous group of patients with liver disease (table 1). All studies demonstrated increased serum IgE levels in alcoholics, statistically significant with respect to controls in most of them (25,26,28-30,32-38). Nonatopic alcoholics show median serum IgE levels between 130 and 150 IU/mL, while nonatopic healthy controls show median serum IgE levels between 20 and 40 IU/mL in the same studies (33-35). Most alcoholics therefore show increased serum IgE concentrations. Moreover, a significant proportion (about 15%) of nonatopic alcoholics show total serum IgE levels higher than 1000 IU/mL (25,33-35). Such levels are very rarely observed in nonatopic healthy individuals (9). It should be noted, however, that not all alcoholics have increased serum IgE concentrations. Furthermore, some alcoholics have IgE concentrations lower than 10 IU/mL (33-35) with similar amounts of regular alcohol intake than patients with very increased IgE concentrations (35). This suggests that either additional factors or an increased individual susceptibility must be present for such an increase of serum IgE in alcoholics, as discussed below (see below, 3.4. Possible mechanisms of alcohol-induced changes in total serum IgE concentrations).

### 3.1.2. Assessment of potential confounding factors

As already mentioned, IgE concentrations are under genetic control but may be influenced by a number of additional factors (9). Some of these factors (such as liver disease, smoking, parasite infestation, malnutrition, atopy, age and sex) may be also associated with chronic alcohol consumption. The potential either confounding effect or interaction induced by these factors has been addressed in some studies, as follows:

#### 3.1.2.1. Liver disease

Alcohol induces liver disease, and liver diseases are associated with hypergammaglobulinemia (39,40). In patients with alcoholic liver disease, a selective serum IgA

Table 1. Observational studies demonstrating increased total serum IgE in alcoholics

Author	Ref.	Year	Country	Number of cases	Patient's characteristics/setting
Heiner & Rose	24	1970	USA	18	Patients with conditions other than allergy
Van Epps et al.	25	1976	USA	46	Patients with miscellaneous liver diseases
Joske <i>et al</i> .	26	1976	Australia	25	Patients with miscellaneous liver diseases
Husby et al.	27	1977	Norway	29	Patients with miscellaneous liver diseases
Smith et al.	28	1980	USA	42	Patients with different stages of alcoholic liver
					disease
Cirasino et al.	29	1981	Italy	16	Patients with liver cirrhosis of varied etiology
Hällgren & Lundin	30	1983	Sweden	106	Atopic and nonatopic alcoholics
Minuk et al.	31	1989	Canada	15	Patients with miscellaneous liver diseases
Vidal <i>et al</i> .	32	1994	Spain	27	Nonatopics with liver cirrhosis
González-Quintela et al.	33	1995	Spain	186	Nonatopic alcoholics with different stages of
					liver disease
González-Quintela et al.	34	1999	Spain	65	Nonatopics with alcohol withdrawal syndrome
Domínguez-Santalla et al.	35	2001	Spain	25	Atopics and nonatopics with alcohol
-			-		withdrawal syndrome
Raithel et al.	36	2001	Germany	41	Nonatopics with chronic pancreatitis
Medina-Santander et al.	37	2001	Venezuela	63	Patients with fatty liver
González-Quintela et al.	38	2002	Spain	25	Nonatopics with alcohol withdrawal syndrome

increase is commonly found (33,41). Therefore, alcoholic liver disease has been considered an IgA-associated disorder (42). First studies that reported an association between alcohol and IgE were performed in groups of patients with liver disease (table 1). Moreover, some initial studies concluded that liver disease is a prominent cause of serum IgE elevation (25). However, several data support both that IgE increase in alcoholics is not a mere part of hypergammaglobulinemia of chronic liver diseases and that liver disease per se is not a cause of serum IgE increase. First, serum IgE levels are not increased in most patients with non-alcoholic liver diseases. Increased IgE concentrations have been reported in patients with hepatitis A and B (43,44), but normal IgE levels have been found in patients with chronic hepatitis C (45) and in patients with autoimmune chronic active hepatitis (31). Furthermore, low or undetectable serum IgE levels have been frequently observed in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis (31). Among patients with liver cirrhosis, increased IgE concentrations were only found in cases of alcoholic origin (32,46). Second, IgE increase in alcoholics is not clearly related either to the severity of alcoholic liver damage or the necro-inflammatory activity within the liver. Smith et al suggested that IgE elevation in alcoholics is restricted to cases with liver fibrosis or cirrhosis (28), but a larger study reported that IgE increase is similar in patients with fatty liver, liver fibrosis, alcoholic hepatitis or cirrhosis (33,35). Moreover, no correlation is observed between serum IgE and parameters of liver dysfunction (30-35). Finally, IgE elevation in alcoholics is unrelated to other immunoglobulins (IgG, IgM, or IgA) (32,33,34). Unlike IgE, IgA levels are clearly correlated with parameters of liver dysfunction and are significantly higher in cases of liver cirrhosis (33). This suggests that the cause of liver disease (particularly alcohol) and not liver disease per se is the cause of increased serum IgE concentrations in patients with liver damage.

### **3.1.2.2. Smoking**

Alcohol consumption and smoking are commonly associated. Cigarette smoking has been found

associated with an increase in total serum IgE concentrations in several epidemiological studies (18-23). However, most of these studies did not adjust their results for alcohol consumption. In alcoholics, serum IgE elevation is independent of cigarette smoking, meaning that IgE increase is observed in both smoker and non-smoker alcoholics (32-35).

#### 3.1.2.3. Parasite infestation

Infestation by parasite worms is a well-known cause of serum IgE elevation (9). Parasite infestation could be suspected as being frequent in indigent alcoholics, but several pieces of evidence suggest that this is not the cause of increased IgE in these cases. First, peripheral blood eosinophilia (a surrogate marker of parasite infestation) is absent in alcoholics with elevated IgE (34,35). Second, alcoholics have increased serum IgE levels with negative stool studies for parasites (29,35) and undetectable Toxocara antibodies (35). Finally, it is unlikely that parasite infestation underlies IgE elevation in alcoholics from so different countries as represented in table 1.

### 3.1.2.4. Malnutrition

Malnutrition and almost every cause of significant cellular immunosuppression are associated with increased serum IgE values (9), and chronic alcoholism is associated with malnutrition. However, studies that reported elevated serum IgE concentrations in alcoholics found no relationship between increased serum IgE and nutrition, as evaluated by either biochemical or anthropometric parameters (34,35).

### 3.1.2.5. Atopy

Atopy is, probably, the most frequent cause of increased serum IgE in developed countries (9). IgE elevation in alcoholics seems independent of atopic status of patients, meaning that IgE elevation is present in both atopic and nonatopic alcoholics (table 1). Many of these IgE studies in alcoholics either selected nonatopic subjects (33,34) or stratified subjects (30) as atopic or nonatopic by clinical history (presence of symptoms of asthma,

rhinoconjunctivitis or dermatitis). It is well know, however, that many atopic patients may be free of symptoms. Other studies which stratified alcoholic patients as atopic or nonatopic by more objective methods such as skin prick tests to common aeroallergens (35) or selected nonatopic alcoholics by the absence of specific serum IgE against aeroallergens (38) confirmed that IgE elevation in alcoholics is independent of their atopic status. The possible relationship of chronic alcohol consumption with allergic sensitization is discussed below (see below, 4.2. Alcohol consumption and risk of allergic sensitization).

### 3.1.2.6. Age and gender

Total serum IgE concentrations are higher in males than in females (23,47), and IgE levels tend to decrease with ageing (47-49). In the population, alcohol abuse is usually associated to male sex. Significant IgE increase in alcoholics, however, persists when results are adjusted for age and sex (33,34).

### 3.1.3. Time-course changes of serum IgE levels after alcohol abstinence

IgE decrease shortly after ethanol abstinence, which is an additional evidence for the influence of regular alcohol intake on serum IgE concentrations. The half-life of serum IgE is only three days, permitting to study its variation over short periods of time. The outcome of serum IgE concentrations after abstinence in alcohol abusers was analyzed in three studies. In a cross-sectional study, Hallgren an Lundin observed that alcoholics with the shortest withdrawal period had the highest IgE levels (30). Moreover, they longitudinally followed seven alcoholics immediately after a period of heavy drinking, and found a uniform significant pattern of declining IgE levels (mean relative decrease, 40%) during the observation period (16 days) (30). In the study of Smith et al, admission IgE levels were compared with levels obtained 2-4 weeks postadmission in 25 alcoholics (28). Twenty of 25 alcoholics had reductions in IgE concentration, with an average decrease of 50% (28). Similarly, we found a significant decrease in serum IgE concentrations after alcohol abstinence in 39 patients admitted to the hospital (33). Median serum IgE in the initial sample was 147 IU/mL, and 106 IU/ml in a second sample taken 7-14 days after admission. The second IgE value was lower than the first one in 29 out of 39 patients, with a mean decrease of 25% in these cases (33).

### 3.2. IgE studies in moderate alcohol consumers

The possible influence of moderate alcohol consumption (below the threshold of alcohol abuse) on total serum IgE levels has been addressed in three studies. All of them consistently conclude that alcohol intake is associated with an increase in total serum IgE concentrations (23,50,51). Criqui *et al* studied the epidemiology of IgE levels in a defined population (composed of 621 patients studied in a Lipid Research Clinic with an average age of 66 years) and included regular alcohol consumption in the analysis (23). They concluded that alcohol intake was significantly correlated with IgE levels, particularly in men and independently of atopy (defined by a personal or family history of allergy)

and smoking (23). Miguez-Burbano et al studied total serum IgE levels in 83 patients with HIV infection, and also included alcohol intake in the analysis (50). The proportion of alcohol abusers among alcohol consumers was not given, but they found that alcohol intake was significantly associated with IgE elevation in multivariate analysis which included HIV status and intravenous drug use (50). In a recent study focused on the possible influence of alcohol intake on both total and specific serum IgE levels in 460 patients studied in an Allergy clinic (the setting where total serum IgE is commonly used as a diagnostic tool), we observed that regular alcohol intake higher than seven standard drinking units per week (approximately equivalent to 70g of ethanol per week) is associated with an increase in total serum IgE concentrations (51). This association was independent of age, sex, smoking habit and atopic status of subjects, defined by skin prick tests against common aeroallergens (51). All these three studies were carried out in very defined populations, but the association of total serum IgE levels with alcohol intake in these largely non-alcoholic populations suggests that alcohol, in and of itself, can increase total serum IgE levels (23,51). It should be taken into account, however, that alcohol intake explains little of the variation of total serum IgE in moderate alcohol consumers (51).

## 3.3. Indirect evidences of the influence of alcohol consumption on total serum IgE

### 3.3.1. Mother's alcohol consumption and cord blood IgE concentrations

The possible effect of alcohol intake by mothers during pregnancy on cord blood IgE levels in their offspring has been addressed in two studies, with contradictory results. Bjerke et al studied cord blood IgE concentrations in a birth cohort of 2631 infants in order to elucidate the association between genetic environmental factors and fetal production of IgE (52). On multivariate analysis, regular alcohol consumption equal or higher than three standard drinking units per week by mothers was associated with elevated cord blood levels of IgE in their offspring when compared with newborns to abstainer mothers, even when adjusting for atopic heritage, sex of child, mother's weight, mother's educational background, and mother's smoking (52). In contrast, Grzybowski et al reported that cord IgE concentrations were lower among newborns from drinking mothers than nondrinking mothers, with a significant trend for lower cord IgE with increasing ethanol ingestion (53). However, the study included only 98 cases, and only a third of mothers were regular alcohol consumers (53).

#### 3.3.2. Experimental studies

Experimental administration of alcohol in humans has obvious ethical limitations. We have observed that a single 60g-ethanol dose in healthy individuals may modify serum cytokine levels (54), with no significant modification of total serum IgE 36 hours later (unpublished observation). To our knowledge, the possible influence of prolonged ethanol administration on IgE levels in humans has not been reported up to date. However, the effect of

experimental ethanol administration on serum IgE levels in laboratory animals have been recently reported. In 2001, Starkenburg *et al.* reported that oral ethanol administration for 12 days in mice is followed by a rapid elevation in total serum IgE (55). IgE elevation after ethanol administration occurred in both Th1 and Th2-prone mice strains (55). Moreover, IgE levels correlate with serum alcohol levels in ethanol-fed mice (55).

# 3.4. Possible mechanisms of alcohol-induced changes in total serum IgE concentrations

The mechanisms of total serum IgE elevation after ingestion of alcoholic beverages are not fully understood. It is unlikely that that a substance different from ethanol and contained in the beverages was the cause of elevated IgE levels. Increased IgE levels could derive from decreased IgE catabolism but, probably, elevated IgE concentrations are the consequence of an increased IgE synthesis. In addition to antigen binding, IgE synthesis by B cells requires two signals. The first signal is delivered by Th2-derived cytokines (particularly IL-4 or IL-13), and the second one is the consequence of the interaction of the B cell surface antigen CD40 with its ligand on activated T cells (56,57). Some additional stimuli, when present along with IL-4, can induce IgE synthesis in a T-cell independent manner (56). Theoretically, if alcohol consumption induces increased IgE synthesis, it could derive from altered Th1/Th2 cytokine balance, altered CD40 ligation, T-cell independent factors or increased antigen exposure. These possible mechanisms are discussed next.

### 3.4.1. Alterations in Th1/Th2 cytokine balance

It could be hypothesized that IgE increase in alcoholics could be due to Th1/Th2 cytokine imbalance, with Th2 predominance. In rodents, and probably in humans, two polar categories of Th cells exist: Th1 cells which secrete IL-2 and interferon-gamma, and Th2 cells which secrete IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 (58). Th2 cytokines stimulate antibody-mediated immune responses (including IgE synthesis), while Th1 cytokines stimulate cell-mediated responses and inhibit IgE production (57,58). Conditions involving increased serum IgE levels are therefore suggestive of Th2 cytokine predominance (59). In fact, experimental ethanol administration in animals polarizes the immune response away from Th1 toward Th2 (55,60-63). Moreover, the rapid increase in serum IgE levels after ethanol administration in mice is accompanied by a decrease in Th1 function, as reflected by diminished interferon-gamma production (55).

In humans, alcohol consumption is associated to profound changes in cytokine balance (34,35,54,64-67). These include altered levels and/or production of cytokines involved in IgE synthesis (34,35,54,64-67). Serum levels of IgE, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13 and interferon gamma from a group 65 patients with alcohol withdrawal syndrome with those from a group of 40 healthy control subjects (34). In parallel with IgE increase, alcoholic patients showed increased serum levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12 and IL-13 (34). Serum levels of IL-4, IL-5 and interferon-gamma were undetectable in most patients and controls (34). A weak but statistically

significant correlation was observed between serum IgE and IL-13 concentrations in alcoholics (34). Serum IgE levels were also increased in alcoholics with the highest serum IL-10 values (34). These results are in accordance with the hypothesis of a Th2 predominance as the cause of IgE increase in alcoholics, but additional results are somewhat conflicting with such hypothesis. Alcoholics also have increased serum values of IL-12 (34,67), the main promoter of the development of Th1 cells from naïve CD4+ cells (68). Moreover, stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of alcoholics may show a predominant Th1-profile of cytokine secretion (35,66). Recently, our group studied both serum IgE levels and PBMC production of IL-4, IL-10, IL-13 and interferongamma in a group of 25 alcoholics (five atopic and 20 nonatopic by skin prick tests) and 15 healthy controls (seven atopics and eight nonatopics) (35). Elevated levels of serum IgE in both atopic and nonatopic alcoholics occurred in spite of a paradoxically low Th2/Th1 ratio of cytokine production by phytohemagglutinin-stimulated PBMC, reflected by a low IL-4/interferon-gamma production ratio (35). Median production of IL-4 (the main Th2 cytokine responsible for IgE switch at the B-cell level) was 6-20 fold lower in alcoholics than in healthy controls (35). Interleukin-10 and IL-13 production was similar in alcoholics and in control subjects (35). Furthermore, we recently observed that increased serum IgE in nonatopic alcoholics is correlated with low serum levels of soluble CD30 (sCD30) (38), a surrogate marker of Th2 immune responses in vivo (69).

There is some discrepancy between experimental studies in animals and observational studies in alcoholics concerning Th1/Th2 imbalance induced by alcohol and IgE levels. Caution is needed in cytokine studies because of their wide range of activities, cell sources and potential inducers of each cytokine. In animal studies ethanol was administered for brief periods of time (days), while alcoholic patients included in these studies abused from alcohol for years. It should be taken into account that the paradigm of Th1/Th2 dichotomy is more evident in rodents than it is in humans. The idea of Th1 and Th2 predominance in a particular disorder should not be overemphasized, since either subset may play a role modulating the immune response over time (70). Alcoholism exemplifies this, since it may be simultaneously associated with both Th1 and Th2 phenomena.

### 3.4.2. T-cell independent mechanisms

Endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide, LPS) is responsible for many of the alcohol-induced immunological aberrations in humans (64). Intestinal absorption of LPS is increased by alcohol intake, and alcohol abuse leads to endotoxemia even in patients with no signs of chronic liver disease (71). LPS has apparently opposite effects. On the one hand, LPS binding to CD14 on antigen-presenting cells leads to IL-12 production (72) and subsequent Th1 development. On the other hand, LPS enhances IL-4-dependent IgE synthesis by cultured PBMC (73). This effect is strictly monocyte-dependent, because it is completely abrogated by depletion of monocytes, but not

by removal of T cells (73). Alcohol-induced LPS absorption could therefore underlie both Th1 phenomena and increased IgE synthesis in alcoholics. Furthermore, genetic variations in CD14 (the LPS receptor) could underlie the wide variation of IgE levels in alcoholics. It must be remembered that IgE is not increased in all alcoholics. Moreover, IgE levels in alcoholics may be significantly different in subjects with similar amounts of ethanol intake. This suggests that some kind of individual susceptibility must exist. IgE levels are determined by genetic factors and, perhaps, environmental factors modify IgE concentrations to some extent from a genetically given level. The genetic locus of CD14 is close to the genomic region controlling IgE levels, and recently described genetic polymorphisms in the CD14 promoter region are associated with IgE levels (73-75). Genetic variation in CD14 may modulate the effects that exposure to bacterial ligands has on the development of IgE responses (75). LPS absorption could be responsible for increased IgE synthesis after alcohol intake, and genetic variations in CD14 could explain individual variations in this response, but this is just an hypothesis which is currently under investigation.

Additional T-cell independent mechanisms for IgE elevation after regular alcohol intake include direct effects of ethanol on B cells favoring IgE switching. It is known that other alcohols, such as salbutamol or propranolol, can stimulate IgE synthesis via interaction with either the beta-2-adrenergic receptor or other cell receptors (76,77). Effects of ethanol on B cells could also include post-receptor intracellular alterations in molecules involved in IgE switching (56). These hypotheses would also need further studies.

### 3.4.3. Antigen shedding/exposure

It has been suggested that alcohol intake could break oral tolerance and promote IgE synthesis through increased antigen load from the gastrointestinal tract with subsequent increased exposure to the immune system. Such excess of antigen load could derive from either decreased liver clearance or increased intestinal absorption. The liver may play a critical role in the induction of tolerance to antigens absorbed through the portal system, the so-called portal venous tolerance (78-80). Kupffer cells, the resident liver macrophages, are probably responsible for this phenomenon since Kupffer cell blockade abrogates portal venous tolerance (79,80). In rats, no serum specific antibodies can be detected after experimental intragastric or intraportal ovalbumin administration, but an increased IgE or IgG1 specific response is observed when Kupffer cells are blocked with gadolinium chloride prior to antigen administration (81,82). Both advanced liver disease and alcohol impair Kupffer cell function (83). In a study of Kupffer cell phagocytic activity (liver radiocolloid uptake), serum IgE levels and skin prick test reactivity to a battery of food allergens in a group of 52 cirrhotics (27 of them of alcoholic origin), we observed that IgE elevation was restricted to alcoholic cirrhotics, and unrelated to either liver phagocytic function or skin test reactivity to food allergens (32). In summary, these results do not support that increased IgE levels in alcoholics are the result of liver Kupffer cell dysfunction.

Raithel *et al* studied the relationship between total serum IgE, pancreatic insufficiency (in patients with chronic pancreatitis) and alcohol consumption (36). They found that increased total serum IgE levels were independently associated with pancreatic insufficiency and alcohol consumption, and concluded that a reduced rate of antigen digestion in exocrine pancreatic insufficiency may lead to increased intestinal antigen load, and that alcohol consumption may further contribute to this by damaging the mucosal barrier (36). However, these mechanisms do not explain serum IgE increase in alcoholics with normal pancreatic function or in subjects with moderate alcohol consumption. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, there is no evidence for increased food allergen sensitization in previous studies in alcoholics (32).

### 4. ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AND SPECIFIC ALLERGIES

# 4.1. Alcohol consumption and serum specific IgE levels in atopic patients $\,$

In a survey of adult atopic patients studied in an Allergy clinic, we reported that serum specific IgE levels against some aeroallergens were increased in regular alcohol consumers when compared with abstainers (51). Among 220 patients allergic to house dust mites (the most common aeroallergen in the area studied), median specific IgE against Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus was 54 IU/mL in alcohol consumers and 25.7 IU/mL in abstainers. The proportion of patients with increased (class 5 or higher) serum specific IgE against Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus was 53% in regular alcohol consumers versus 28% in alcohol abstainers (51). The association of regular alcohol intake with increased serum specific IgE against house dust mites persisted after adjusting for age, sex, and smoking (51). A similar pattern was observed in 82 patients allergic to grass pollen (Lolium perenne), but the association between alcohol intake and specific IgE values did not reach statistical significance (51). Further studies are needed to determine whether alcohol intake is associated to increased serum specific IgE concentrations in atopic patients.

## 4.2. Alcohol consumption and risk of allergic sensitization

In a cross-sectional population-based study of factors related to allergic sensitization to aeroallergens in 15-69-year-old Copenhagen, Denmark, Linneberg et al reported an association between alcohol consumption and allergic sensitisation (84). The studied sample included 1112 subjects, 477 of them from a random group and 635 from a symptomatic group which reported nasal or bronchial symptoms on exposure to pollen or furry animals. Regular alcohol intake (coded as a trend variable) was associated with allergic sensitisation estimated by skin prick test positivity, but not when estimated by specific serum IgE positivity. The authors suggested that this finding should be interpreted with caution, since there were no previous reports addressing this relationship in the literature (84). The association between alcohol consumption and skin prick test positivity was mainly due to the consumption of wine, which could suggest that the

association was due to confounding by social status or diet. However, the association between alcohol consumption and allergic sensitization persisted after adjusting for age, sex, smoking status and educational level (84). The possible relationship between alcohol consumption and allergic sensitization is currently under research in an adult population-based survey in our area.

## 4.3. Alcohol consumption and development of allergic and pseudoallergic symptoms

In rare instances, alcohol ingestion is associated with type-I hypersensitivity-like reactions, such as urticaria (85-89), exacerbation of bronchial asthma (90,91) or even anaphylactoid reactions (85-88, 92-94) with very rare fatal cases (95). These reactions are most probably caused by intolerance to ethanol or its metabolites (acetaldehyde and acetic acid), and not to true ethanol allergy (85,86). Ethanol-specific IgE has never been demonstrated but oral challenge with ethanol can reproduce the symptoms (85-88, 92). Positive skin prick tests against acetic acid have been demonstrated in some case of anaphylactoid reactions to ethanol (85,87,94). Anti-acetaldehyde adducts circulating IgE antibodies have been detected in sera of subjects with alcohol hypersensitivity reactions (96). In addition, foodinduced anaphylaxis (97) and exercise-induced anaphylaxis (98) may be favored by concomitant alcohol intake. Studies on the effect of alcohol intake in bronchial asthma gave conflicting results (90), but alcoholic drinks appear to be important triggers for asthmatic responses in most studies (91). Alcohol-induced asthma in Asians is associated with increased blood acetaldehyde concentration resulting from genetic abnormalities of alcohol dehydrogenase (99-101) or increased increased airway responsiveness to acetaldehyde (102).Finally, some immediate hypersensitivity reactions after the ingestion of alcoholic beverages are due to added allergens such as preservatives (particularly sulfites) (103,104), or cereals in the case of beer (105).

#### 5. PERSPECTIVE

IgE responses are genetically conditioned, but they very sensitive to environmental immunomodulatory factors. It is not surprising that alcohol, a powerful immunomodulatory drug, can modulate the IgE system. An increase in total serum IgE is consistently shown in all studies performed in alcohol abusers and moderate alcohol consumers. This phenomenon should be taken into account when total serum IgE is employed as a diagnostic tool. However, it should be noted that alcohol intake explains little of the variation in serum IgE, particularly in moderate alcohol consumers. Moreover, diagnostic value of total serum IgE assay is limited. Elevation of total serum IgE associated with alcohol intake therefore carry greater pathophysiological than clinical importance. Further studies concerning the mechanisms of increased IgE synthesis in alcohol consumers could offer some insight into the mechanisms of IgE-mediated disorders.

Preliminary reports suggests that alcohol intake not only can modify total serum IgE concentrations, but

also can influence both specific IgE concentrations in atopic subjects and the risk of allergic sensitization. These results need more confirmatory cross-sectional studies and, if possible, longitudinal cohort studies. If confirmed, these results would be of great importance, given the high prevalence of both alcohol consumption and allergic disorders in many populations.

### 6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The study was partly supported by grants of the *Sociedad Espanola de Alergia e Immunología Clínica*, and the *Fondo de Investigaciones Sanitarias* (No. 0081/96 and No. 1306/99), from the Spanish Ministry of Health.

#### 7. REFERENCES

- 1. Ishizaka K. & T. Ishizaka: Physicochemical properties of reaginic antibody. I. Association of reaginic activity with an immunoglobulin other than gammaA- or gammaG-globulin. *J Allergy* 37, 169-185 (1966)
- 2. Johansson S.G.: Discovery and development of IgE assays. *Clin Exp Allergy* 27 (Suppl), 60-63 (1997)
- 3. Stanworth D.R.: The discovery of IgE. *Allergy* 48, 67-71 (1993)
- 4. Turk J.L.: Von Pirquet, allergy and infectious diseases: a review. *J R Soc Med* 80, 31-33 (1987)
- 5. Roitt I., J. Brostoff & Male D: Hypersensitivity Type I. In: Immunology (5th Ed). Eds: Roitt I, Brostoff J, Male D, Mosby, London, 301-317 (1998)
- 6. Coca A.F. & R.A. Cooke: On the classification of the phenomena of hypersensitiveness. *J Immunol* 8, 163-182 (1923)
- 7. Johansson S.G.O., J.O.B. Hourihane, J. Bousquet, C. Bruijnzeel-Koomen, S. Dreborg, T. Haahtela, M.L. Kowalski, N. Mygind, J. Ring, P. van Cauwenberge, M. van Hage-Hamsten & N. Wüthrich: a revised nomenclature for allergy. *Allergy* 56, 813-824 (2001)
- 8. Pepys J.: Recognition of the atopic status. *Clin Allergy* 16 (Suppl), 19-26 (1986)
- 9. Ownby D.R.: Clinical significance of immunoglobulin E. In: Allergy. Principles and Practice. Eds: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, Adkinson NF, Yunginger JW, Busse WW, Mosby, St Louis, 770-782 (1998)
- 10. Blumenthal M.N.: Principles of genetics. In: Allergy. Principles and Practice. Eds: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, Adkinson NF, Yunginger JW, Busse WW, Mosby, St Louis, 28-39 (1998)
- 11. Zetterstrom O & S.G. Johansson: IgE concentrations measured by PRIST in serum of healthy adults and in patients with respiratory allergy. A diagnostic approach. *Allergy* 36, 537-547 (1981)

- 12. Cortés X., J.B. Soriano J.L. Sanchez-Ramos, J. Azofra, E. Almar & J. Ramos: European study of asthma. Prevalence of atopy in young adults of 5 areas in Spain. *Med Clin* (Barc) 111, 573-577 (1998)
- 13. Matricardi P.M.: Prevalence of atopy and asthma in eastern versus western Europe: why the difference? *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 87 (Suppl), 24-27 (2001)
- 14. Magnan A., S. Boniface, L. Mely, S. Romanet, E. Mamessier & D. Vervloet: Cytokines, from atopy to asthma: the Th2 dogma revisited. *Cell Mol Biol* 47, 679-687 (2001)
- 15. Moffat M.F. & W.O. Cookson: Genetics of asthma and inflammation: the status. *Curr Opin Immunol* 11, 606-609 (1999)
- 16. Strachan D.P.: Family size, infection and atopy: the first decade of the "hygiene hypothesis". *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 104, 554-558 (1999)
- 17. Matricardi P.M., F. Rosmini, S. Riondino, M. Fortini, L. Ferrigno, M. Rapicetta & S. Bonini: Exposure to foodborne and orofecal microbes versus airborne viruses in relation to atopy and allergic asthma; epidemiological study. *BMJ* 320, 412-417 (2000)
- 18. Burrows A.B., M. Halonen, R.A. Barbee & M. Lebonitz: The relationship of serum immunoglobulin E to cigarrette smoking. *Am Rev Resp Dis* 123, 523-525 (1981)
- 19. Omenaas E., P. Bakke, S. Elsayed, R. Hanoa & A. Gulsvik: Total and specific IgE levels in adults: relationship to sex, age, and environmental factors. *Clin Exp Allergy* 24, 530-539 (1994)
- 20. Sapigni T., P. Biavati, M. Simoni, G. Viegi, S. Baldacci, L. Carrozzi, P. Modena, M. Pedreschi, M. Vellutini & P. Paoletti: The Po River Delta respiratory epidemiological survey: an analysis of factors related to level of total serum IgE. *Eur Respir J* 11, 278-283 (1998)
- 21. Warren C.P.W., V. Holford-Strevens, C. Wong & J. Manfreda: The relationship between smoking and total immunoglobulin E levels. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 69, 370-375 (1982)
- 22. Wuthrich B., C. Schindler, T.C. Medici, J.P. Zellweger & P. Leuenberger: IgE levels, atopy markers and hey fever in relation to age, sex and smoking status in a normal adult Swiss population. SAPALDIA (Swiss Study on Air Polution and Lung Diseases in Adults) team. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 111, 396-402 (1996)
- 23. Criqui M., J.A. Seibles, R.N. Hamburger, S.S. Coughlin & S. Gabriel: Epidemiology of immunoglobulin E levels in a defined population. *Ann Allergy* 64, 308-313 (1990)
- 24. Heiner D.C. & B. Rose: Elevated levels of gamma-E (IgE) in conditions other than classical allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 45, 30-42 (1970)

- 25. Van Epps E., G. Husby, R.C. Williams & R.G. Strickland: Liver disease. A prominent cause of serum IgE elevation. *Clin Exp Immunol* 23, 444-450 (1976)
- 26. Joske R.A., K.J. Turner & B.P. Murphy: Serum IgE levels in patients with liver disease. *Med J Aust* 2, 555-557 (1976)
- 27. Husby G., S. Skrede, J.P. Blomhoff, C.D. Jacobsen, K. Berg & E. Gjone: Serum immunoglobulins and organ non-specific antibodies in diseases of the liver. *Scand J Gastroent* 12, 297-304 (1977)
- 28. Smith W.I., D.H. Van Thiel, T. Whiteside, B. Janoson, J. Magovern, T. Puet & B.S. Rabin: Altered immunity in male patients with alcoholic liver disease: evidence for defective immune regulation. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 4, 199-206 (1980)
- 29. Cirasino L., F. Fasani & F. Cupella: Livelli sierici di IgE in corso de cirrosis epatica. *Boll Ist Sieroter Milan* 66, 59-65 (1987)
- 30. Hällgren R. & L. Lundin: Increased total serum IgE in alcoholics. *Acta Med Scand* 213, 99-103 (1983)
- 31. Minuk G.Y., N.D. Boyd, D.S. Matheson, M.J. Fritler & B.J. Green: Serum immunoglobulin E levels in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 48, 462-466 (1989)
- 32. Vidal C., A. Gonzalez-Quintela, I. Millan, F. Gude & V. Cuervas-Mons: Serum IgE in liver cirrhosis: contrasting results in alcoholic and non-alcoholic patients. *Clin Exp Allergy* 24, 540-548 (1994)
- 33. González-Quintela A., C. Vidal, F. Gude, S. Tomé, S. Lojo, M.J. Lorenzo, E.P. Becerra, J.M. Martínez Vazquez & E. Barrio: Increased serum IgE in alcohol abusers. *Clin Exp Allergy* 25, 756-764 (1995)
- 34. González-Quintela A., C. Vidal, S. Lojo, L.F. Pérez, E. Otero-Antón, F. Gude & E. Barrio: Serum cytokines and increased total serum IgE in alcoholics. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 83, 61-67 (1999)
- 35. Domínguez-Santalla M.J., C. Vidal, J. Vinuela, L.F. Pérez & A. González-Quintela: Increased serum IgE in alcoholics: relationship with Th1/Th2 cytokine production by stimulated blood mononuclear cells. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 25, 1198-1205 (2001)
- 36. Raithel M., H. Dormann, M. Farnbacher, M. Weidenhiller, E.G. Hahn & H.T. Schneider: Stimulation of immunoglobulin E production by alcohol consumption and exocrine pancreatic insufficiency. *Z Gastroenterol* 39, 269-276 (2001)
- 37. Medina-Santander C.E., M. Morales-Gómez & G.J. Olivares-Romero: Niveles séricos de inmunoglobulina E en pacientes con esteatosis hepática asociada o no al consumo de alcohol. *Invest Clin* 42, 241-253 (2001)

- 38. González-Quintela A., M.J. Domínguez-Santalla, L.F. Pérez, S. Lojo & C. Vidal: Serum levels of soluble CD30 and total IgE in alcoholics. *Allergol Intern* (2002) (in press)
- 39. Triger D.R. & R. Wright: Hyperglobulinaemia in liver disease. *Lancet* 7818, 1494-1496 (1973)
- 40. Pomier-Layrarges G., P.M. Huet, G. Richer, D. Marleau, & A. Viallet: Hyperglobulinemia in alcoholic cirrhosis. Relationship with portal hypertension and intrahepatic porta-systemic shunting as assessed by Kupffer cell uptake. *Dig Dis Sci* 25, 489-493 (1980)
- 41. Van de Wiel A., J. Van Hattum, H.J. Schuurman & L. Kater: Immunoglobulin A in the diagnosis of alcoholic liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 94, 457-462 (1988)
- 42. Van de Wiel A., H.J. Schuurman & L. Kater: Alcoholic liver disease: an IgA-associated disorder. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 22, 1025-1030 (1987)
- 43. Levo Y. & M. Shalit: Serum IgE levels in patients with liver disease. *Ann Allergy* 47, 456-458 (1981)
- 44. Charlesworth J.A., R.J. Lennane, P. Jones, S. Lawrence & C.R. Boughton: Contrasting IgE levels in acute HBsAgpositive and negative hepatitis. *Aust N Z J Med* 8, 43-45 (1978)
- 45. González-Quintela A., M.R. Alende, S. Lojo, L.F. Pérez, E. Padín, S. Tomé & C. Vidal: Total serum IgE in chronic hepatitis C. Influence of interferon-alpha therapy. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 125, 176-181 (2001)
- 46. Brown W.R., C.L. Landsford & M. Hornbrook: Serum immunoglobulin E (IgE) concentrations in patients with gastrointestinal disorders. *Dig Dis* 18, 641-645 (1973)
- 47. Orren A. & D.B. Dowdle: The effects of sex and age on serum IgE concentrations in three ethnic groups. *Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol* 48, 824-835 (1975)
- 48. Stoy P.J., B.R. Roitman-Johnson, G. Walsh, G. Gleich, N. Mendell, E. Yunis & M.N. Blumenthal: Aging and serum immunoglobulin E levels, immediate skin tests, and RAST. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 68, 421-426 (1981)
- 49. Witting H.J., J. Belloit, I. De Filippi & G. Royal: Agerelated serum immunoglobulin E levels in healthy subjects and in patients with allergic disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 66, 305-313 (1980)
- 50. Miguez-Burbano M.J., G. Shor-Posner, M.A. Fletcher, Y. Lu, J.N. Moreno, C. Carcamo, B. Page, J. Quesada, H. Sauberlich & M.K. Baum: Immunoglobulin E levels in relationship to HIV-disease, route of infection, and vitamin E status. *Allergy* 50, 157-161 (1995)
- 51. Vidal C., M. Armisen, M.J. Dominguez-Santalla, S. Lojo & A. González-Quintela: Influence of alcohol consumption on total and specific serum IgE levels in atopic and nonatopic adults. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 26, 59-64 (2002)

- 52. Bjerke T., M. Hedegaard, T.B. Henriksen, B.W. Nielsen & P.O. Schiotz: Several genetic and environmental factors influence cord blood IgE concentration. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 5, 88-94 (1994)
- 53. Grzybowski M., D.R. Ownby, C. Johnson & E.L. Peterson: Maternal alcohol ingestion and blood cord IgE concentrations. *Pediatr Asthma Allergy Immunol* 9, 193-198 (1995)
- 54. González-Quintela A., M.J. Domínguez-Santalla, L.F. Pérez, C. Vidal, S. Lojo & E. Barrio: Influence of acute etanol intake and alcohol withdrawal on circulating levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and IL-12. *Cytokine* 12, 1437-1440 (2000)
- 55. Starkenburg S., M.E. Munroe & C. Waltenbaugh: Early alteration in leukocyte populations, and Th1/Th2 function in ethanol-consuming mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 25, 1221-1230 (2001)
- 56. Bacharier L.B. & R.S. Geha: Molecular mechanisms of IgE regulation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 105, 547-558 (2000)
- 57. Ryan J.J.: Interleukin-4 and its receptor: essential mediators of the allergic response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 99, 1-5 (1997)
- 58. Street N.E. & T.R. Mosmann: Functional diversity of T lymphocytes due to secretion of different cytokine patterns. *FASEB J* 5, 171-177 (1991)
- 59. Lucey D.R., M. Clerici & G.M. Shearer: Type 1 and type 2 cytokine dysregulation in human infectious, neoplastic and inflammatory disorders. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 9, 532-562 (1996)
- 60. Peterson J.D, L.A. Herzenberg, K. Vasquez & C. Waltenbaugh: Glutathione levels in antigen presenting cells modulate Th1 versus Th2 response patterns. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 3071-3076 (1998)
- 61. Peterson J.D, K. Vasquez & C. Waltenbaugh: Interleukin-12 therapy restores cell-mediated immunity in ethanol-consuming mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 22, 245-251 (1998)
- 62. Schodde H., S. Hurst, M. Munroe, T. Barrett & C. Waltenbaugh: Ethanol ingestion inhibits cell-mediated immune responses of unprimed T-cell receptor transgenic mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 20, 890-899 (1996)
- 63. Waltenbaugh C & J.D. Peterson: Ethanol impairs the induction of delayed hypersensitivity in C57BL/6 mice. *Alcohol* 14, 149-157 (1997)
- 64. McClain C.J., S. Barve, I. Deaciuc, M. Kugelmas & D. Hill: Cytokines and alcoholic liver disease. *Semin Liver Dis* 19, 205-19 (1999)

- 65. Mandrekar P., D. Catalano, L. Girouard & G. Szabo: Human monocyte IL-10 production is increased by acute etanol treatment. *Cytokine* 8, 567-577 (1996)
- 66. Laso F.J., C. Iglesias-Osma, J. Ciudad, A. López, I. Pastor & A. Orfao: Chronic alcoholism is associated with an imbalanced production of Th-1/Th-2 cytokines by peripheral blood T cells. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 23, 1306-1311 (1999)
- 67. Laso F.J., C. Iglesias, J. Ciudad, J.F. Sanmiguel & A. Orfao: Increased ilterleukin-12 serum levels in chronic alcoholism. *J Hepatol* 28, 771-777 (1998)
- 68. Macantonia S.E., N.A. Hosken, M. Litton, P. Vieira, C.S. Hsie, J.A. Culpepper, M. Wysocka, G. Trincheri, K.M. Murphy & A. O'Garra: Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naïve CD4+ cells. J Immunol 154, 5071-5079 (1995)
- 69. Romagnani S., G. del Prete, E. Maggi, M. Chilosi, F. Caligaris-Cappio & G.C. Pizzolo: CD30 and type 2 helper (Th2) responses. *J Leukoc Biol* 61, 539-544 (1995)
- 70. Gerli R., C. Lunardi, F. Vinante, O. Bistoni, G. Pizzolo & C. Pitzalis: Role of CD30+ T cells in rheumatoid artritis: a counter-regulatory paradigm for Th1-driven diseases. *Trends Immunol* 22, 72-77 (2001)
- 71. Bode C., V. Kugler & J.C. Bode: Endotoxemia in patients with alcoholic and non-alcoholic cirrhosis and in subjects with no evidence of chronic liver disease following acute alcohol excess. *J Hepatol* 4, 8-14 (1987)
- 72. Cleveland M.G., J.D. Gorham, T.L. Murphy, E. Tuomanen & K.M. Murphy: Lipoteichoic acid preparations of gram-positive bacteria induce interleukin-12 through a CD14-dependent pathway. *Infect Immun* 64, 1906-1912 (1996)
- 73. Vercelli D., M. Baldini & F. Martinez: The monocyte/IgE connection: May polymorphisms in the CD14 gene teach us about IgE regulation? *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 124, 20-24 (2001)
- 74. Baldini M., I.C. Lohman, M. Halonen, R.P. Erickson, P.G. Holt & F. Martinez: A polymorphism in the 5' flanking region of the CD14 gene is associated with circulating soluble CD14 levels and with total serum immunoglobulin E. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20, 976-983 (1999)
- 75. Vercelli D., M. Baldini, D. Stern, I.C. Lohman, M. Halonen & F. Martinez: CD14: A bridge between innate immunity and adaptative IgE responses. *J Endotoxin Res* 7, 45-48 (2001)
- 76. Agarwal S.K. & G.D. Marshall: Beta-adrenergic modulation of human type 1/type 2 cytokine balance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 105, 91-98 (2000)
- 77. Kasprowicz D.J., A.P. Kohm, M.T. Berton, A.J. Chruscinski, A. Sharpe & V.M. Sanders: Stimulation of the

- B cell receptor, CD86 (B7-2), and the beta-2-adrenergic receptor intrinsically modulates the level og IgG1 and IgE produced per B cell. *J Immunol* 165, 680-690 (2000)
- 78. Cantor H. & A. Dumont: Hepatic suppression of sensitization to antigen absorbed into the portal system. *Nature* 215, 744 (1967)
- 79. Callery M., T. Kamei & M. Flye: Kupffer cell blockade inhibits induction of tolerance by the portal venous route. *Transplantation* 47, 1092-1094 (1989)
- 80. Squiers E., D. Salomon, L. Prickard, R. Howard & W. Pfaff: Abrogation of the induction or portal venous tolerance in a cardiac transplant model resulting from Kupffer cell inhibition by gadolinium. *Transplantation* 50, 171-173 (1990)
- 81. Vidal C., A. González-Quintela & V. Cuervas-Mons: Influence of Kupffer cell phagocytosis blockade on the production of ovalbumin-specific IgE and IgG1 antibodies in an experimental model. *Clin Exp Allergy* 23, 15-20, (1993)
- 82. Vidal C., A. González-Quintela & V. Cuervas-Mons: Gadolinium chloride-indiced Kupffer cell phagocytosis blockade promotes increased antibody (IgG1) response to orally administered ovalbumin in the rat. *Int Hepatol Commun* 3, 260-266 (1995)
- 83. Basista M.H., J. Gavaler, A. Sieffenhofer, K. Love, E. Rosenblum & V.J. Dindzans: Effect of ethanol on Kupffer cell function. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 17, 556-560 (1993)
- 84. Linneberg A., N.H. Nielsen, F. Madsen, L. Frolund, A. Dirksen & T. Jorgensen: Factors related to allergic sensitization to aeroallergens in a croos-sectional study in adults: The Copenhagen Allergy Study. *Clin Exp Allergy* 31, 1409-1417 (2001)
- 85. Sticherlining M., J. Brasch, H. Brüning & E. Christophers: Urticarial and anaphylactoid reactions following ethanol intake. *Br J Dermatol* 132, 464-467 (1995)
- 86. Sticherlining M. & J. Brasch: Alcohol: intolerance syndromes, urticarial and anaphylactoid reactions. *Clin Dermatol* 17, 417-422 (1999)
- 87. Boehncke W.H. & H. Gall: Ethanol metabolite acetic acid as causative agent for type-I hypersensitivity-like reactions to alcoholic beverages. *Clin Exp Allergy* 26, 1089-1091 (1996)
- 88. Kelso J.M., M.U. Keating, D.L. Squillace, E.J. O'Connell, J.W. Yunginger & M.I. Sachs: Anaphylactoid reaction to ethanol. *Ann Allergy* 64, 452-4 (1990)
- 89. Emoner S., S. Hogendijk, J. Voegeli, P.A. Eingenmann, N. Roux & C. Hanser: Ethanol-induced urticaria: elevated tryptase levels after double-blid placebo-controlled challenge. *Dermatology* 197, 181-182 (1998)

- 90. Cuddy R., & G. Li: The role of alcohol in asthma: a review of clinical and experimental studies. *Am J Emerg Med* 19, 501-503 (2001)
- 91. Vally H., N. de Clerk & P.J. Thomson: Alcoholic drinks: important triggers for asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 105, 462-467 (2000)
- 92. Mallon D.F. & C.H. Katelaris: Ethanol-induced anaphylaxis following ingestion of overripe melon, *Cucumis melo. An Allergy Asthma Immunol* 78, 285-286 (1997)
- 93. Ting S.: Anaphylactoid reaction to ethanol. *An Allergy* 69: 463 (1992)
- 94. Przybilla B. & J. Ring: Anaphylaxis to etanol and sensitization to acetic acid. *Lancet* 8322, 483 (1983)
- 95. McCormick G.M. & D.B. Young: Death caused by an allergic reaction to ethanol. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol* 16, 45-47 (1995)
- 96. Israel Y., A. McDonald, O. Niemela, D. Zamel, E. Shami, M. Zywulko, F. Klajner & C. Borgono: Hypersensitivity to acetaldehyde-protein adducts. *Mol Pharmacol* 42, 711-717 (1992)
- 97. Kanny G., D.A. Moneret-Vautrin, J. Flabbee, E. Beaudouin, M. Morisset & F. Thevenin: Population study of food allergy in France. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108, 133-140 (2001)
- 98. Shedick N.A., M.W. Liang, A.J. Partridge, C. Bingham, E. Wright, A.H. Fossel & A.L. Sheffer: The natural history of exercise-induced anaphylaxis: Survey results from a 10-year follow-up study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 104, 123-127 (1999)
- 99. Takao A., T. Shimoda, S. Kohno, A. Asai, & S. Harda: Correlation between alcohol-iduced asthma and acetaldehyde dehydrogenase-2 genotype. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 101, 576-580 (1998)
- 100. Saito Y., F. Sasaki, I. Tanaka, M. Sato, M. Okazawa, H. Sakakibara & S. Suetsugu: Acute severe alcoholinduced bronchial asthma. *Intern Med* 40, 557-558 (2001)
- 101. Matsuse H., T. Shimoda, C. Fukushima, K. Mitsuta, T. Kawano, S. Tomari, S. Saeki, Y. Kondoh, I. Machida, Y. Obase, S. Asai & S. Kohno: Screening for acetaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 genotype in alcohol-induced asthma by using the ethanol patch test. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108, 715-719 (2001)
- 102. Fujimura M., S. Myou, Y. Kamio, Y. Ishiura, K. Iwasa, T. Hashimoto & T. Matsuda: Increased airway responsiveness to acetaldehyde in asthmatic subjects with alcohol-induced bronchoconstriction. *Eur Respir J* 14, 19-22 (1999)

- 103. Vally H., A. Carr, J. El-Saleh & P. Thompson: Wine-induced asthma: a placebo-controlled assessment of its patogénesis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 103, 41-46 (1999)
- 104. Vally H. & P.J. Thompson: Role of sulfite additives in wine induced asthma: single dose and cumulative dose studies. *Thorax* 56, 763-769 (2001)
- 105. Vidal C. & A. González-Quintela: Food-induced and occupational asthma due to barley floor. Ann Allergy 75, 121-124 (1995)

Key Words: Alcohol, ethanol, IgE, allergy, Review

**Send all correspondence to:** González-Quintela, M.D., Department of Internal Medicine, Hospital Clínico Universitario, C/ Choupana sn, 15706 Santiago de Compostela, Spain, Tel: +34.981.951279, Fax: +34.981.950501, E-mail: mearturo@usc.es